#### In the

# SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDATILED

NO. 46,709

FEB 5 1975
SID J. WHITE
CLERK SUPREME COURT

LEON WEST, individually and as personal representative of the Estate of GWENDOLYN WEST, deceased, et al.,

Plaintiff/Appellee,

vs.

CATERPILLAR TRACTOR COMPANY, INC.,

Defendant/Appellant.

Appeal from the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida

Certified Questions from the United States Court of Appeals, Fifth Circuit, to the SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF
CATERPILLAR TRACTOR COMPANY, INC.,
Defendant/Appellant.

PAPY, LEVY, CARRUTHERS & POOLE 328 Minorca Avenue Coral Gables, Florida 33134 Attorneys for Defendant/Appellant

JAMES S. USICH, ESQUIRE

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

Having worked closely with the Appellees in the preparation of the Certificate to this Honorable Court, Appellant stipulates as the Statement of the Case as set forth in the Certification to this Court. Additional expansion upon the Statement of the Case, in fact, can be readily gleaned by this Honorable Court through the Appellant's Statement of the Case and Statement of the Facts, as submitted in his original Appellant's Brief, and additionally through the Statement of the Case duly submitted to the United States Court of Appeals, Fifth Circuit, by the Appellees herein.

### ARGUMENT 1 (a)

UNDER FLORIDA LAW, MAY A MANUFACTURER BE HELD LIABLE UNDER THE THEORY OF STRICT LIABILITY IN TORT, AS DISTINCT FROM BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FOR INJURY TO A USER OF THE PRODUCT, OR A BYSTANDER?

UNDER FLORIDA LAW, A MANUFACTURER MAY NOT BE HELD LIABLE UNDER THE THEORY OF STRICT LIABILITY IN TORT, AS DISTINCT FROM BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FOR INJURY TO A USER OF THE PRODUCT OR A BYSTANDER.

The doctrine of strict tort liability, as set forth in the Second Restatement of Torts, Section 402(a) states:

"One who sells any product in a defective condition unreasonably dangerous to the user or consumer or to his property is subject to liability for physical harm thereby caused the ultimate user or consumer, or to his property, or (a) the Seller is engaged in business of selling such product, and (b) it is expected to and does reach the user or consumer without substantial change in the condition in which it was sold. . . "

and has not been adopted as a matter of law or as a matter of proceeding under circumstances similar to the case at bar in the State of Florida.

In cases involving foodstuffs or deleterious substances which are to be inhaled or digested by individuals, the rule of strict tort liability under certain circumstances has been applied, Green v. The American Tobacco Co., 154 So. 2d 169, (Fla. 1963). Green, supra, instituted an absolute or strict liability theory to the manufacturer of a commodity who placed such commodity into a normal channel of trade for consumption by the general public.

In the case at bar, by no stretch of the imagination is a Caterpillar motor grader a commodity that would be consumed by the general public.

In McLeod v. W. S. Merrell Co., Division of Richardson-Merrell, 174 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 1965), a more analogous situation occasioned itself. In McLeod, the Plaintiff was asking the imposition of an absolute or strict liability theory without fault against a retail druggist who was simply selling a prescription of a manufactured drug. Even though the Complaint therein was couched in one of implied warranty of fitness for the purpose intended, this Honorable Court determined that the real cause of action sought was one of strict tort liability. This Court set forth that:

"As to the final salient point concerning the doctrine of strict liability, this jurisdiction has rejected such doctrine in <a href="McLeod v">McLeod v</a>. W. S. Merrell Co., Division of Richardson-Merrell, 174 So. 2d 736, 739 (Fla. 1965)"

The tenor of the McLeod, supra, by this Court infers that strict liability in this unique type of situation would be available, upon proper proof, of course, only against the manufacturer of said drug. There are other exceptions, of course, in drug cases. However the test as set forth in Green was not satisfied in McLeod.

Royal v. Black & Decker Manufacturing Company, 205 So. 2d 307 (Fla. App. 1967) evidences the attitude of the Appellate Courts in the State of Florida in their consideration of strict tort liability as to manufacturers of equipment or other goods not designated primarily for human consumption.

Royal v. Black and Decker, supra, as indicated by the Third District Court of Appeal in the State of Florida, set forth the primary concern in regards to the doctrine of so called "strict liability". The dicta therein indicates that strict liability in tort may be imposed upon the manufacturer

"When an article he places on the market, knowing that it is to be used without inspecting for defects, proves to have a defect, and causes injury to a human being."

The Court went on further to state exactly what a defect is, relative in nature, to the fact that there could be no requirements or restrictions upon the manufacturer of a product beyond protecting the user from an unreasonably dangerous product, or one fraught with unexpected danger, or to make an accidentproof or fool-proof product. This is logical. (Additionally, the Court held that facts must be introduced from which reasonable men could conclude that the products could be unreasonably dangerous or defective. / Some type of deviation from the norm, either in comparison with similar products or comparison with products used for similar purposes, would be the test therein. In conclusion in Royal v. Black and Decker, supra, the Court relied upon the cases of Evans v. General Motors Corporation, 359 F. 2d, 822 (7th Cir. 1966), and Campo v. Scofield, 301 N.Y. 468 95 N.E. 2d, 802, (1950), and Matthews v. Lawnlite Company, (Fla. 1956) 88 So. 2d 299.

"It is not in itself a breach of duty to supply materials which are reasonably safe and customarily used, even though the material might be conceivably made more safe, nor must manufacturer make his product "more" safe, when the danger to be avoided is obvious to all."

Royal v. Black and Decker, supra, at 310.

From a terse reading of Royal v. Black and Decker, supra, and the attendant cases indicated therein, the Third District Court of Appeal, representing the tenor of the Appellate Courts in the State of Florida, indicates that a manufacturer will not be reasonable under the theory of strict tort liability for failing to make an accident proof and fool-proof product, when the danger, if any, from his product, is obvious to all individuals.

Similiarly, <u>Matthews v. Lawnlite Company</u>, supra, indicate this Honorable Court's opinion, even as to an implied warranty, where the hazard involved would be apparent to the complaining party.

Keller v. Eagle Army-Navy Department Stores, Inc., 291

So. 2d 58 (Fla. App. 1974) did not reach the question involved in this certification, to wit; whether or not strict tort liability is applicable against the manufacturer of a product put into the normal course of trade in the State of Florida, when such product injures a party plaintiff. Keller, supra, was an action by a minor against a retailer for personal injuries sustained when a patio torch exploded, wherein the basic determination was one of whether or not the torch involved therein was a dangerous instrumentality, raising an imposition of strict liability upon the owner thereof. The First District Court of Appeals held that the law applicable was set forth in Matthews v. Lawnlite Company, supra, by saying that:

But ?

"An implied warranty does not protect against hazards apparent to the plaintiff, it protects against an usual or apparent use. It does not protect against injury imposed while carelessly using a dangerous mechanism."

The Court further went on to state that the manufacturer can be subjected to liability if the user sustains an injury as a result of "an inherently dangerous condition", in a seemingly innocuous looking instrumentality. This obviously, is a question of fact for the trier of fact, however, it is important to realize that in <u>Keller</u>, supra, the action of the Plaintiff was against the retailer and not against the manufacturer. Although <u>Keller</u> was reversed on different grounds, as to the sufficiency of evidence, adduced by the Plaintiff to have prohibited a directed verdict by the trial Judge at the end of the Plaintiff's case, the action is one in implied warranty of fitness for the purpose intended, and is not one in strict tort liability. These two theories are not analagous.

(The point involved of significance in <u>Keller</u>, supra, was the dicta set forth that Florida has recognized the dangerous instrumentality doctrine as to automobiles, airplanes, motorcycles, and boats, and the attendant liability, strict in nature, that has been imposed upon the owners for their improper use. The point of interest is that the <u>owners</u> are held strictly liable, however, the users obviously, have the right to contend that their negligence was not a proximate cause or the sole proximate cause of the injuries to the Plaintiff or Plaintiffs. The responsibility of an owner is substantially different than that of a manufacturer. Once again, the Court referring to <u>Matthews</u>, supra, held that the manufacturer could be subjected to liability (although not strict liability was indicated by the Fourth District Court of Appeal), if an inherently dangerous condition was created by their manufacturer.

Keller, supra, which as stated heretofore, involving a torch, and the gaseous state that resulted therefrom, was really a dangerous instrumentality, similar to a stick of dynamite in a shoe box. No one could imagine nor appreciate nor understand the dangers involved therein until they actually opened the shoe box. In the case at bar, there was no innocent looking instrumentality, that had an inherently dangerous condition therein. It is hard for this writer to imagine what more ominous product there would be than a yellow road grader being approximately thirty feet long, nine feet wide, standing at it's canopy fifteen feet high, and weighing approximately fifteen tons.

To impose strict liability upon a manufacturer for conditions so blatantly obvious would lead to litigation never contemplated by this Honorable Court and by other Courts through this country. To have a plaintiff recovery by simply establishing the defect, when such defect would be obvious to any reasonable person would result in litigation from tissues to tea bags, with the Defendants therein having no logical defenses available to them.

The majority of cases found dealing with strict tort liability emanate from jurisdictions outside of the State of Florida. The landmark case of <u>Greenman v. Yuba Products, Inc.</u>, 59 Cal. 2d 57, 27 Cal. Rptr., 697, 377, P. 2nd 897 (1963), set forth the attitude of the Courts of California regarding the responsibility of a manufacturer for liability.

Additionally, the New Jersey Court in <u>Henningsen v. Bloom-field Motors</u>, Inc., 32 N.J., 358, 161a 2nd 69 (1960), established strict liability as a result of placing absorbtion powers of

economic burdens upon the shoulders of manufacturers, rather upon the shoulders of consumers or users.

The State of Arizona, likewise, has adopted strict tort liability, however, no cases can be found in the State of Florida, which under a similar fact pattern, strict tort liability can be applied to the manufacturer.

The duty of the legislature of any state, and more specifically in the case at bar in the State of Florida, is to establish law which could and would protect classes of individuals to which the Plaintiff has alluded. As seen in implied warranty and expressed warranty cases, such were not the offspring of judicial interpretation, but were the direct descendent of legislative ability, to wit; the Uniform Commercial Code.

Based upon the foregoing argument and authority thereto, there is no question but that Florida has not adopted the doctrine and theory of strict liability in tort, however, it is conceded that Florida has adopted a breach of implied warranty of merchantability for injuries to users of a product or bystanders.

## ARGUMENT 1 (b)

IF THE ANSWER TO 1(a) IS IN THE AFFIRMATIVE, WHAT TYPE OF CONDUCT BY THE INJURED PARTY WOULD CREATE A DEFENSE OF CONTRIBUTORY OR COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE?

Assuming, arguendo, that this Court determines that there is in fact liability upon a manufacturer, strict in nature, for negligent or defective design, or light or defective manufacture then the question obviously occasions itself as to the defenses available thereto.

Since Florida has not adopted the doctrine of strict tort liability as involved in the certified question in the case before the Court, there are no jurisdictional decisions on point. However, referring to cases outside of this jurisdiction, in states that have adopted strict tort liability, determinations have been made as to defenses that are applicable. In O.S. Stapley Company v. Miller, 430 P.2d 701 (1967), the Arizona Appellate Court, in a product liability case against the manufacturer of a steering mechanism for a boat, determined that strict tort liability was applicable. They Stated:

"Having decided the liability of a manufacturer of an article is in tort . . . rather than a part of the law of contracts, we have no difficulty in determining that contributory negligence is a defense in a strict tort liability action."

Likewise, the <u>Restatement of Torts</u>, <u>Second Edition</u>, Section 402a, states that:

> "Contributory negligence of the plaintiff is not a defense when such negligence consists merely in a failure to discover the defect . . .

". . .in the product, or to guard against the possibility of its existance. On the other hand, the form of contributory negligence which consists involuntarily and unreasonably proceeding to encounter a known danger and commonly passes under the name of assumption of risk, is a defense under the section as in other cases of strict liability. If the user or consumer discovers the defect and is aware of the danger, and nevertheless proceeds unreasonably to make use of the product, and is injured by it, he (or she) is barred from recovery."

Additionally, the State of New Jersey, in the case of Cintrone v. Hertz Truck Leasing, etc, 212A, 2d 769 (1955) held that the lower Court had properly submitted the question of the Plaintiff's contributory negligence to the jury. The facts in Cintrone, supra, were that the Plaintiff had failed to protect himself from a situation in which he was cognizant, to wit; defective brakes. The Court states at page 783 therein:

"Cintrone, with knowledge of danger presented by the defective brakes, failed to take the care for his own safety, which a reasonably prudent person would have taken under the circumstances. Therefore, it would have been improper for the trial Court to have removed the defense of contributory negligence from jury consideration."

In <u>Cintrone</u>, supra, the rule of law set forth is the reasonably prudent person rule, to wit; that which a reasonably prudent person other than the Plaintiff would have done under the circumstances.

The doctrine of "assumption of risk", has long been held to be applicable to negligence action such as the one before this Honorable Court. The United States Court of Appeals, Fifth Circuit, has indicated by their certification, that a

determination is also to be made by this Court as to whether or not assumption of risk would be a logical defense available in the event that this Court determines that strict tort liability is the law in the State of Florida.

In <u>Cleveland v. The City of Miami</u>, 263 So. 2d 573, (Fla. 1972), this Honorable Court held that assumption of the risk under certain circumstances would be available as a defense. This Court further stated in Cleveland, supra, that:

"The committee recommends that the charge 'assumption of risk' not be given as a matter of course as a second charge in contributory negligence, and that it be given only in the cases where a jury may find that claimant more or less deliberately and willingly exposed himself to the specific risk which resulted in his injury and damage." At page 557.

This Court further went on to state that in this particular case there was no testimony showing that Cleveland had willingly exposed himself, nor did he have a reasonable opportunity to avoid the danger once he became aware of it. From a cursory reading of the committee's notes on the charging of assumption of risk, it very well could be inferred in the case at bar, that the jury might have found that Gwendolyn West more or less deliberately and willingly exposed herself to the specific risk which resulted in her injury and subsequent damages to her Estate.

In <u>Crosier v. Joseph Abraham Ford Company</u>, 150 So. 2d 499, (Fla. App. 1963), the Third District Court, in citing from 65 C.J.S. Negligence, Section 174, at Page 851, stated as to the assumption of risk that:

". . .In order to invoke the doctrine of assumed or incurred risk, it is essential that the risk or danger shall have been known to, and appreciated by the Plaintiff, or that it shall have been so obvious, that he must have been taken to have known and comprehended it."

In the case at bar, since an assumption of risk charge was never given, it is difficult to determine whether or not the jury would have inferred that Gwendolyn West knew about the danger involved, it being so obvious to anyone, and that therefore, she must be taken to have known and comprehended it.

Likewise, see <a href="Byers v. Dunn">Byers v. Dunn</a>, 81 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 1955), <a href="City of Jacksonville Beach v. Jones">City of Jacksonville Beach v. Jones</a>, 101 Fla. 95, 131 So. 369, and <a href="Bart-holf v. Baker">Bart-holf v. Baker</a>, 71 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 1954).

In the case at bar, the demand for a charge on assumption of risk was not an alternative or addition to the charge on contributory negligence, but rather from a very close reading of the record on appeal, it is evident that anyone under the circumstances would have known the risk involved, and would have not voluntarily chosen to continue to expose themselves to the risk, which ultimately would cause their injuries and subsequent damages.

As a result of this Honorable Court's decision in Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So. 2d 431, (Fla. 1973), the question of whether or not the doctrine of assumption of risk could or would be a total bar to strict tort liability or tort liability was not reached.

As stated on Page 439 therein, this Court determined that:

"Petitioners in this cause, and various amicus curiae who have filed briefs, have raised many points, which they claim we must consider in adopting comparative negligence, such as the effects of such a change on the concept of 'assumption of risk', and no 'contribution' between joint tort feasors. We decline to consider all those issues, however, for two reasons, One reason is that we already have a body of case law in this state dealing with comparative negligence, under our earlier railroad statute. Much of this case law would be applicable under the comparative negligence rule we are now adopting generally."

It is evident, therefore, that the doctrine of assumption of risk as a result of the cases set forth heretofore in other jurisdictions, indicate that assumption of risk, and even under certain circumstances, contributory, or in this particular case, comparative negligence, would be a defense to strict tort liability.

#### ARGUMENT 1 (b) (1)

IN PARTICULAR, UNDER THE PRINCIPLES OF FLORIDA LAW, WOULD LACK OF ORDINARY DUE CARE, AS FOUND BY THE JURY IN THIS CASE, CONSTITUTE A DEFENSE TO STRICT TORT LIABILITY.

LACK OR ORDINARY DUE CARE CONSTITUTES A DEFENSE TO STRICT TORT LIABILITY.

Based upon the argument in 1(b) it seems obvious to assume that in fact comparative or contributory negligence as well as assumption of risk are proper defenses to strict tort liability.

Once again, this Court's decision in <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, supra, indicate the intent of this Court to try and abandon doctrines which are "unjust and inequitable". The inception of comparative negligence instead of a total bar by and through contributory negligence has, in fact, achieved this goal. This Court has left determinations as to relative fault now with the proper party, the trier of fact, to wit; basically the jury.

However, assuming once again, arguendo, that this Court establishes the doctrine of strict tort liability, as stated heretofore, then there must be a defense available to the defendants or manufacturers accordingly. In <a href="Hoffman">Hoffman</a>, supra, this Court stated that:

"A primary function of a Court is to see that legal conflicts are equitably resolved. In the field of tort law, the most equitable result that can be reached by a Court is the equation of liability with fault. Comparative negligence does this more completely than contributory negligence, and we would be shirking our duty if we did not adopt a better doctrine."

The intent of this Court, obviously, is to see that jus-

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