IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. 46, 709

LEON WEST, individually and as personal representative of the Estate of GWENDOLYN WEST, deceased, et al.,

Plaintiff, Appellee,

FILED

vs.

CATERPILLAR TRACTOR COMPANY, INC.,

MAR 14 1975

Defendant, Appellant.

SID J. WHITE

Appeal from the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida Salet Privity Block

Certified Questions from the
United States Court of Appeals, Fifth Circuit, to the
SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF, APPELLEE

SER AND KEYFETZ 704 Ainsley Building Miami, Florida

BERKELL, STRAUSS & BENJAMIN, P.A. 1500 N.E. 162nd Street North Miami Beach, Florida 33162

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

Even Florida products liability doctrine, framed in terms of "warranty" law, refuses to permit Uniform Commercial Code disclaimer allowability to impede strict liability in an non-commercial or non-contractual setting, where there is no privity. And Florida recognizes clearly that its own case law warranties exist separate and apart from restrictive provisions of the code, where they are inapplicable and inapposite to a situation: FORD MOTOR CO. v. PITTMAN, Fla.App.1969, 227 So.2d 246 [manufacturer not code "seller" to ultimate non-privity consumer; disclaimer under code simply does not apply to such a warranty in Florida, allowable even in the absence of privity]; and see MANHEIM v. FORD MOTOR CO., Fla.1967, 201 So.2d 440.

In short, Florida strict liability--phrased in terms of warranty--in no way is pre-empted by anything in the Code: PITTMAN, supra; FAVORS v. FIRESTONE FIRE & RUBBER CO., Fla.App. 1975, ___So.2d__ [Case No. 73-552 and 553; Feb. 14,1975; Fourth District]; and see e.g., SCHUESSLER v. COCA-COLA BOTTLING CO. OF MIAMI, supra, 279 So.2d 901; BARRY v. IVARSON, supra, 249 So.2d 44; and AUTREY, supra, D.C., Del.1973, 362 F.Supp.1085 [Fla.law], all recognizing continued existence of

non-code warranties and doctrine. Masses of the cases above cited, in the adoption of strict liability and tort, have ruled out disclaimers, because the doctrine here imposed is not bottomed on contract; and is not bottomed on a commercial transaction. See, e.g.; DIPPEL v. SCIANO, supra; YUBA, supra.

b) Notice

The Uniform Commercial Code provides that a buyer must provide a seller with notice of breach within a "reasonable time" after he discovers or should discover the defect (F.S.672.607(3)). Florida Common law warranties never have imposed such a requirement, which is purely a contractual doctrine. The Uniform Commercial Code specifically covers only particular contractual situations between sellers and buyers [extended to include members of the household, or employees of the purchaser reasonably expected to use the product and be affected by its use] (F.S.672.2318).*

^{*} Even the official comments to the Code itself state that the restrictive privity doctrine in no way is intended to impede case law development of products liability; and expansion of parties who are protected by such concepts: see F.S.672.2-313 [Comment 2; Warranty sections of Code "are not designed in any way to disturb those lines of case law growth" which recognize that warranties need not be confined either to the sales contract or to the direct parties to such a contract; F.S. 672.2-318; [Comment 3; Section includes certain parties beyond immediate purchaser; but is "not intended to enlarge or restrict the dedeveloping case law on whether the seller's warranties, given to a buyer who resells, extend to other persons ..."].

But a requirement of notice is simply a contractual doctrine which has
no place or part in a case like this brought by a third person who is not
a purchaser under the code. Many cases have so held: PIERCEFIELD v.

REMMINGTON ARMS CO., supra, 375 Mich. 85, 133 N.W.2 129; DIPPEL v. SCIANO,
37 Wis.2d 443, 155 N.W.2d 55; GREENMAN v. YUBA PRODUCTS, INC., supra, 377 P.2d 897.

Here, we are not concerned with a contractual suit or a code warranty at
all; this is not an action between a "seller" and a "buyer" as encompassed
within the code. This squarely has been recognized in Florida; see e.g. PITTMAN,
supra. Notice has nothing to do with a suit bottomed, as this one is,
on something other than a contract; see eg. BARFIELD v. U.S. RUBBER CO.,
supra, 234 So.2d 374, cert.den., 239 So.2d 828. Notice of a breach
deals with a contract and a contract alone. It has no place in this
area of the law.

c. Privity

It is urged that strict liability in tort would end privity requirements as encompassed in the code (F.S.672.2-318 [extending implied warranty liability of "sellers" beyond purchasers but only to members of purchaser's household and to employees if reasonably expected to use product and be affected by its use]. As we have seen, even the code itself never has been intended to restrict development of warranty case law to protect persons other than the limited persons to whom the code applies. Such development has specifically been left to case law by the official comments of the code (see Comment 2, F.S.672.2-313; Comment 3, F.S. 672.2-318). Florida's "developing" case law has obliterated the privity requirement against manufacturers in all cases, and indeed has already extended the warranty liability to protect bystanders where a product, as manufactured and designed, is dangerously defective or inherently dangerous: TOOMBS, supra. [as here]. We have seen, clearly, that privity is not required against a

manufacturer, in an action by a consumer or user regardless of the nature of the product. BERNSTEIN v. LILLY TULIP CUP CORP., supra,

MANHEIM v. FORD MOTOR CO., supra. [Florida Supreme Court cases]; and
mass of cases above cited.

These warranty liabilities survive the Uniform Commercial Code of course, and it squarely has been so held in other jurisdictions which have adopted the code: SUVADA v. WHITE MOTOR CO., supra, 210 N.E.2d 182 [leading Illinois case; privity abolished; and the code does not restrict development; 210 N.E.2nd at 188; action for breach of warranty under Code is separate creature]. The cause of action bottomed on tort simply does not require privity; and nothing in the Code, concerned as it is with actions arising out of a contract, can prevent this.

Of necessity, once privity is abolished, contractual restrictions on recovery simply are irrelevant. Our notes following many of the cases adopting strict liability, above, show that Uniform Commercial Code restrictive provisions have been considered to be separate and apart, on a contractual basis; and they simply do not apply to actions, such as this, bottomed as they must be upon something other than the contract. Florida over and over again has abolished the privity requirement as to manufacturers.

d) Retailers

It is urged next, however, that adoption of 402A would impair the Uniform Commercial Code privity requirements, and indeed extend Florida case law privity doctrine, to allow actions against retailers or wholesalers despite absence of privity. To this, we answer simply that all that the Fifth Circuit here asked was whether strict liability should be applied

against manufacturers; and the answer to this is an emphatic yes; so that retailer liability is not involved.

But the adoption of 402A, in toto, is here sought anyhow. Because retailers should be included within the strict liability doctrine, as persons within the commercial distributive chain, who pass the product on for profit. The retailer generally is the party who passes the product on to the plaintiff; and often is local, and the person to whom the purchaser looks and upon whom he relies. And, of course, retailers have an action over against the manufacturer to recoup their losses by way of imdemnity; and often are the most available defendant for the injured member for the public to reach. The policy reasons for including retailers have many times been discussed in the strict liability cases; and thus any "seller" of the product should be included, under 402A: BRANDENBURGER v. TOYOTA MOTOR SALES, supra, Mo.1973, 513 P.2d 268; SUVADA v. WHITE MOTOR CO., supra; KIRKLAND v. GENERAL MOTORS CORP., Okla. 1974, 521 P.2d 1353; ELMORE, supra, [California]; CARUTH, supra. [Arizona]; SEATTLE FIRST NAT. BANK v. VOLKSWAGON, Wash.1974, 525 P.2d 286 [Wash.]; VANDERMARK v. FORD MOTOR CO., Cal. 1964, 391 P.2d 168.

Indeed, in Florida, the "assult on the citadel", insofar as middlemen is concerned has likewise continued apace. The Code itself extends warranties (regardless of nature of product) by "sellers", including "retailers", to purchasers and members of their household and employees reasonably expected to use the product—regardless of the nature of the product.

And warranties in Florida extend by case law from retailers to persons not in privity, who use or consume it, regardless of who they

are, if the product is a "dangerous" one: KELLER v. EAGLE ARMY NAVY
DEPARTMENT STORES, INC., Fla.App.1974, 291 So.2d 58; 256 So.2d 248; also
CARTER v. HECTOR SUPPLY CO., Fla.1961, 128 So.2d 390.

Florida case law early made inroads, by use of the fictional "agency" theory, to allow persons not directly in privity with the retailer to recover: McBURNETTE v. PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT CORP., Fla.1962, 137 So.2d 563, [minor son of a purchaser of a skyrider, obviously designed for the child's use]. In short, inroads even under the Code already have been made on the privity doctrine insofar as retailers are concerned; and the dangerous instrumentality doctrine is a further exception; and indeed would appear even to extend retailer liability to bystanders where the product is dangerous TOOMBS, supra. So the final step is all that is required; retailers do then, fall within the ambit of strict liability, for public policy reasons; and they have their remedy over. The policy of the law requires that all persons in the distributative chain who merchandise the product, should be responsible to members of the innocent public injured thereby for an unreasonably unfit product or an unreasonably dangerous product. This court does not even have to reach the retailer question here, but there is no reason for it not to.

Florida's warranty doctrine has already been extended outright to lessors of commercial property; W.D. JOHNSON EQUIPMENT, CO. v. UNITED AIRLINES, INC., Fla.1970, 238 So.2d 98; WASHWELL INC., v. MOREJON, supra. The law has as much reason to impose strict liability on commercial retailers as on lessors. In short, privity limitations of the Uniform Commercial Code-bottomed on contract principles-simply do not apply to the doctrine; and the tort-liability here imposed exists separate and apart from the implied warranties imposed by virtue of contract principles under

the Uniform Commercial Code, and masses of cases in recent years have so held, as noted above in the listing of the cases adopting strict liability.

The use of the Uniform Commercial Code to prevent adoption of 402A is a subterfuge.

e) Statute of Limitations

Other arguments assigned for non-adoption of 402A have many times been rejected. For example, Uniform Commercial Code's Statute of Limitations-bottomed on contract states that in most cases, the statute commences to run upon tender of the goods or sale or delivery of the goods, regardless of when discovery of the defect is made. (F.S.672.2-725.) This principle has been rejected under Florida law in non-code situations; and has been rejected under the doctrine of strict liability in tort in other jurisdictions. The statute commences to run only on the happening of the accident or upon discovery of the defect or danger in the product. Of this there can be no doubt. BARFIELD v. U.S. RUBBER CO., supra, 234, So.2d 374, cert.den., 239 So.2d 828 [non-code warranty, pre-existing adoption code; Florida common law warranty against manufacturer by one not in privity; thus cause of action not bottomed on contract, and contract statute of limitations does not govern; statute commences to run upon happening of accident and tort statute of limitations governs]; and see CREVISTON v. GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION, Fla.1969, 225 So.2d 331; .accord: 69 KOHLER 60 FORD: MOTOR CO., Neb. 1971, 191 N.W.2d 601; RIVERIA v. BERKELEY SUPER Wash., 44App.Div.2d 316, 354 N.Y.S.2d 654 (Second Department, 1974). The statute of limitations of the Uniform Commercial Code (F.S.672.2-725) applicable to warranties between "sellers" and "buyers" (with certain extensions) does not apply here.

f) Strict Liability Court Made Tort Concept-No Need To Await Legislative Action
Finally, it is argued that adoption of strict liability in tort is a legislative prerogative. This is true, argues the defense bar, because the Uniform

Commercial Code has recently been adopted by the legislature, applies here; and its intent, it is said, is paramount. But, as admitted in the brief of the defense bar, every state, except for Louisiana already has adopted the Uniform Commercial Code; and this has not prevented, in very recent years, the overwhelming flood tide of decisions adopting, by case law, strict liability in tort -- a doctrine separate and apart from the warranty remedy imposed by the Code for commercial transactions between buyer and seller. This court, of course, has abolished privity; extended the warranty doctrine; and has regulated the development of products liability law in this state. Adoption of 402A is a matter not for the legislature but is a matter of adoption of a Restatement position--something which this court has never been hesitant to do in the past (MATTHEWS v. LAWNLITE, supra). It is a matter of court development of tort law, and the idea that the legislature alone can adopt 402A is totally without merit. A doctrine such as this is a matter for the Supreme Court of this State to determine. The same argument has been rejected in many states (SUVADA, supra;) STANG v. HERTZ CORP., 83 N.M. 730, 497 P.2d 732 (1972); and this court in the area of tort law, has never hesitated to bring the law of Florida into modern trend of the law: GATES v. FOLEY, Fla.1971, 247 So.2d 40; HARGROVE v. TOWN OF COCOA BEACH, Fla.1957, 96 So.2d 130; HOFFMAN v. JONES, Fla.1973, 280 So.2d 431. This is not a legislative matter -- it is a matter for this Court to decide the same as it was for some 34 courts in other states. Strict liability must be permitted to exist and there is no reason for Florida to wait any longer.*

66 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130

^{*} Sporadic statements in lower appellate courts in Florida that strict liability has not been adopted are without any basis. For example, LAPSIUS v. BRISTOL-MYERS, Fla.App.1972, 265 So.2d 296, cites, in support of this negative proposition, McCLEOD v. W.S. MERRILL, Fla.1965, 174 So.2d 736. McCLEOD, of course, simply refused to extend 402A and its strict liability provisions to a retail drugust filing a prescription. This is in precise accordance with provisos and comments to 402A itself (see Comment K; unavoidably unsafe products). Durgs and medicines do not fall within the ambit of the doctrine in cases like McCLEOD. But McCLEOD, to the contrary, does recognize strict liability of a manufacturer of a commidity, like the grader involved here, which is put in the public stream of commerce. It recognizes 402A. The Fourth District Court of Appeal has at the same time recognized 402A (KEILER v. EAGLE ARMY NAVY LAW OFFICES, PODHURST, ORSECK & PARKS, F.A.—OF COUNSEL WALTER H. BECKHAM. JR.

The cases on strict liability in tort under 402A are collected in a massive annotation in 13 ALR 3rd 1057 (and see later case services and pocketparts). The last chips of the "citadel" of privity and nonresponsibility must be removed and dissipated in Florida. See, Prosser, The Assult Upon the Citadel (Strict Liability To the Consumer) 69 Yale Law Journal 1099, 1134; Prosser Torts, §84, Page 510 [Second Edition 1955]; The Fall of the Citadel, 50 Minn. L.Rev. 791 (1966). There can be no question that the massive weight of the articles written on the subject favors strict liability in tort; see Cummulative Appendix to Restatement Torts 402A (1966); and see for example; Piercing the Shield of Privity and Products Liability -- A Case For the Bystander; 23 University of Miami Law Review 266; 33 ALR 3d 415; (Products Liability; Extension of Strict Liability in Tort to Permit Recovery by a Third Person Who is Neither a Purchaser Nor User of Product); Strict Products Liability And The Bystander, 64 Columbia L.R., 916-937 (1964); see also, Twa Harper & James, Law of JTorts Page 1572. No one can seriously urge that the time is not ripe for adoption of the doctrine in this state; and Florida, most repectively, should adopt it. Consumer protection demands it.

The second part of question I is:

- 1(b) IF THE ANSWER TO 1(a) IS IN THE AFFIRMATIVE, WHAT TYPE OF CONDUCT BY THE INJURED PARTY WOULD CREATE A DEFENSE OF CONTRIBUTORY OR COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE?
- 1) IN PARTICULAR, UNDER PRINCIPLES OF FLORIDA LAW WOULD LACK OF ORDINARY DUE CARE AS FOUND BY THE JURY IN THIS CASE, CONSTITUTE A DEFENSE TO STRICT TORT LIABILITY?

We answer this question very simply in accordance with absolute edicts of the overwhelming majority of jurisdictions that have adopted strict * (continued from page 32)
DEFARTMENT STORES, INC., supra, 291 So.2d 58; and has seemed to state that it has not yet been recognized in Florida: see FAVORS v. FIRESTONE TIRE AND RUBBER CO., supra. But none of these isolated comments have any basis in the law as promulgated by this Court.

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